## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant, JASON DEATON, was the Defendant in the trial court of the Circuit Court of the 17th Judicial Circuit, the Honorable Leroy Moe presiding; Appellee, State of Florida, was the Plaintiff in the trial court. They will be referred to in this brief as the Appellant or Appellee or State.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, JASON DEATON, was arrested on the instant charge in Tennessee, and was indicted by the Broward County Grand Jury for first degree murder for the killing of Santi Campanella, and the robbery of the same victim. (Record Vol. 11, p. 1678). On April 24, 1984, a trial by jury began in Broward County, with the stipulation that a Motion to Suppress Statements would be held midway through the trial. (Tr. vol. 1, p. 4). The Motion to Suppress was denied (Tr. vol. 2, p. 234), as was Appellant's Motion for Judgement of Acquittal at the end of the State's case (Tr. vo. 5, p. 904) and at the end of all of the evidence (Tr. vol. 7, p. 1223).

The Appellant was found Guilty as charged to the first degree murder and robbery counts (Tr. vol. 8, p. 1370), at which time he was adjudicated Guilty. The same jury that heard the trial then heard arguments by both counsel regarding the sentencing recommendation, and the jury, by a vote of eight to four, recommended that the death sentence be applied. (Tr. vol. 8, p. 1408). A pre-sentence investigation was ordered, and the sentencing was set for June 7, 1984. After hearing comments by both sides, the trial court read a letter regarding capital punishment and, without further elaboration on aggravating circumstances or the facts surrounding such circumstances, the court imposed the death penalty. (Tr. vol. 8, p. 1424).

Appellant's Motion for New Trial was denied (Record vol. 11, p. 1762), and this timely appeal followed. (Record vol. 11, p. 1776).

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In April of 1983, fifteen-year old Rita Callahan and fifteen-year old Marjorie Shannon ran away from their respective homes and made their way to Fort Lauderdale, Florida, where they met fifteen-year old Tammy Lambert and where all three eventually met Appellant, JASON DEATON, and co-defendant Kerry Dean Hall. (Tr. vol. 2, p. 286, vol. 3. p. 444, and vol. 5, p. 571). While collectively living off of prostitution proceeds and the kindness of strangers, (Tr. vol. 2, p. 319, vol. 3, p. 506, vol. 4, p. 614) discussions began regarding the desire to leave Florida and the need for money and a car to do so. (Tr. vol. 2, p. 288, vol. 3, p. 447). It became known in this circle that co-defendant Hall had an homosexual "trick" or customer who owned an automobile, and conversations then turned to separating the "trick" (victim Campanella) from his money and car. (Tr. vol. 2, p. 292, vol. 3, p. 447). At that time, on approximately May 27, 1983, the conversation between Appellant and co-defendant Hall turned to planning the strangulation death of Campanella on the next night, near Searstown, Fort Lauderdale, Broward County, Florida. (Tr. vol. 2, p. 293). To those ends, Appellant took an electrical cord from a lamp in a hotel, commented that "the cord should do the trick," and hid it in his shirt). (Tr. vol. 2, p. 294).

On the next day, approximately May 28, 1983, Appellant and co-defendant Hall were seen in a car with a third person driving down the beachfront road in Fort Lauderdale (Tr. vol. 2, p. 296), and the Defendant and Hall returned to the hotel approximately an hour later. Upon their return, the Appellant and Hall told the three girls, Callahan, Shannon, and Lambert to go to the car and to bring a towel, which they used to clean blood from the inside of Campanella's maroon Chrysler. (Tr. vol. 2, p. 297, vol. 3, p. 459, vol. 4, p. 579). After cleaning up the car, all five persons immediately left to drive to Tennessee, a trip which was financed with \$80.00 taken from Campanella as well as with Campanella's American Express credit card, which was used throughout the trip. (Tr. vol. 2, p. 301).

During the meandering trip northward, the five people stopped at a Foxmoore store in Knoxville, Tennessee and attempted to purchase clothes with the American Express credit card (Tr. vol. 1, p. 87, 100, vol. 2, p. 306). While driving to the eventual destination in Tennessee, the Appellant supposedly made statements regarding his strangling of Campanella with the electrical cord, and the difficulty in killing the victim. (Tr. vol. 3, p. 455, 456). Eventually, the five arrived in Tennessee, at which time the co-defendant, Hall, led them to a cistern/well in Loudon County, Tennessee, where the body of Campanella was hidden. (Tr. vol. 4, p. 660).

After disposing of the body, all five of the people went to a lake where the trunk of the car was washed out, and where a Rhone County deputy found the floor mat and lug wrench from the trunk with blood on them. (Tr. vol. 2, p. 265-266).

After disposing of the body, the five people traveled to Arkansas, where all three of the girls were arrested for loitering at a truck stop (Tr. vol. 2, p. 366-367).

The Appellant and co-defendant Hall continued on in their travels, returning to the Knoxville, Tennessee area where Hall attempted to sell a stolen camera in a camera shop. (Tr. vol. 1, p. 142, 154). The police were called regarding the stolen camera and noticed the victim's car in the parking lot which had been listed as stolen. (Tr. vol. 1, p. 114). Also, Oak Ridge, Tennessee officer Duckett had noticed an article in the paper about a missing person from Fort Lauderdale and made an independent connection between the missing Campanella and the vehicle seen in the mall. (Tr. vol. 1, p. 110-112).

When Defendant and Hall reentered the stolen Chrysler, they were stopped and arrested by the Tennessee police. (Tr. vol. 1, p. 116). After the initial arrest, the Appellant was taken to the Oak Ridge, Tennessee jail where he gave an initial story of the victim offering a job in Texas (Tr. vol. 3, p. 391-392, 395). Fort Lauderdale police officers Rice

and Patterson then flew to Tennessee and, late on the same evening, June 8, 1983, Patterson and Rice had an initial contact with Appellant at the jail, resulting in an immediate conflict between Appellant and the gruff and intimidating Officer Patterson (Tr. vol. 3, p. 407, 412). On the next day, June 9, 1983, co-defendant Hall was interviewed and apparently made incriminating statements, leading to an interview with the Appellant. After being assured that Patterson would not be present, Appellant made numerous incriminating statements regarding the death of the victim, including tape recorded statements. (Tr. vol. 3, p. 422, vol. 5, p. 772).

While there was no contention about the cause of death, set at strangulation by Dr. Kintler (Tr. vol. 2, p. 249), Dr. Ongley, a pathologist presented by the Defendant, strongly contested the time of death based upon the amount of decomposition, opining that it was not reasonably possible that the victim was killed in Fort Lauderdale on May 28, 1983, as the State alleged. (Tr. vol. 6, p. 948). Also in support of the Defendant's position that the victim was killed in Tennessee, in self defense after attack by a knife (Tr. vol. 7, p. 1102-1103), was the testimony by Rose Hall and Ellen Harmon that, as late as May 29, 1983, they both saw Campanella alive in Tennessee with the Appellant and co-defendant Hall. (Tr. vol. 6, p. 1007, 1041).

Other facts will be cited throughout the brief as appropriate.

## POINT I

THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE TRIAL COURT'S EVIDENTIARY RULINGS REQUIRE A NEW TRIAL.

Throughout the course of the trial, the trial Court committed error in various evidentiary rulings, the cumulative effect of which require reversal in the instant matter.

During the course of the trial, the trial Court heard Appellant's Motion to Suppress statements allegedly given to various police officers by the Appellant. After hearing the testimony, including testimony by the Appellant, the Motion was summarily denied by the trial Court (Tr. vol. 2, p. 234). The denial of the Motion to Suppress was error by the trial Initially, the Appellant was arrested in Tennessee by Officer Duckett, was given his Miranda rights, and was questioned. (Tr. vol. 1, p. 116, Vol. 3, 389). The Appellant was questioned initially, and gave a story regarding his being picked up by the co-defendant and the victim at the beach in Fort Lauderdale, and leaving to take a job with the victim. (Tr. vol. 3, p. 291-292). When the Appellant was questioned a second time, he was again given his rights and told the same story. (Tr. vol. 3, p. 395). After the second interrogation was terminated, the Appellant was left alone until Officers Rice and Patterson arrived in Tennessee from Fort Lauderdale, and spoke to the Appellant late in the evening on June 8, 1983. It was at this

time that the Appellant first came in contact with Sergeant Patterson, who has a gruff, harsh and authoritarian manner, leading to immediate dislike between himself and the Appellant, according to officers who witnessed the confrontation (Tr. vol. 1, p. 187, vol. 3, p. 407). More important than this coercive mannerism was the fact that the other officers, particularly Detective Foust, saw that Patterson came on like a bad guy and that Patterson told something to the Appellant, although it was not heard what it was (Tr. vol. 3, p. 412, 416). Appellant testified that Patterson came in immediately and threatened the Appellant with the organized crime affiliations of the victim's family, stating in essence that if Appellant got out of jail, he would be killed due to such connections. (Tr. vol. 2, p. 217). This organized crime connection to the victim's family was not an exercise in imagination by the Appellant, as various officers involved in the investigation testified to similar information. Officer Duckett testified that Patterson mentioned that the victim's family was very powerful with organized crime connections (Tr. vol. 1, p. 189, 193), and further testified that the Appellant had asked about these organized crime connections and was concerned about them (Tr. vol. 1, p. 190). At the Motion to Suppress, Officer Rice, (Patterson's partner from Fort Lauderdale) testified that he was contacted by Tennessee authorities regarding the fact that the Appellant's life would be in danger because of the organized crime connections of the victim's family (Tr. vol. 2, p. 210). Detective Foust testified that he had heard rumors that the Appellants were afraid of the organized crime ties and were similarly afraid of the wealth of the family. (Tr. vol. 3, p. 416-417). Finally, later in the trial, Officer Duckett testified that the Appellant actually was concerned enough to ask Officer Duckett about the connections of the family soon after Appellant's contact with Patterson. (Tr. vol. 4, p. 726). From this testimony, it is clear that the climate surrounding the interrogation of the Appellant by Rice and Patterson (the officers who took the taped statements) was coercive, making the trial Court's finding of a free and voluntary statement unreasonable.

Similarly, it cannot be overlooked that, upon his initial contact with Rice and Patterson late in the evening on June 8, 1983, the Appellant, according to the testimony of the officers, was very hostile and nasty toward the officers (Tr. vol. 2, p. 208), resulting in the Appellant's cursing the officers, asking them why they were bothering him, and informing them that he told them all he knew, and terminating the conversation. (Tr. vol. 4, p. 692). This termination was punctuated with the Appellant spitting upon Patterson. (Tr. vol. 5, p. 755).

After Appellant terminated the interrogation of June 8, 1983, the officers, undaunted, returned for another interrogation the next morning, clearly uninvited. To further clarify

the coercive nature of the prior evening's encounter, Appellant's initial statement dealt with his fear of Patterson and his need for assurance that Patterson would not return. (Tr. vol. 3, p. 432, p. 415-416). Not only was it clear, factually, that the Appellant exercised his Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights on the evening of June 8, 1983 by terminating any further uncounseled interrogation, but the statements regarding his fear of Patterson the next morning clarified the coercive atmosphere which existed at the time. This Court, as the Supreme Court, has always set a very high standard of proof for the waiver of constitutional rights, particularly in situations regarding custodial interrogation. See Tague v. Illinois, U.S. 100 S.Ct. 652 (1980), p. 653. Further, and more importantly, the Appellant's exercise of his Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights by terminating the late-night interrogation shows that the officers acted improperly and illegally by their initiating further contact with the Appellant as was specifically prohibited by the U.S. Supreme Court in Edwards v. Arizona, U.S. ; 101 S.Ct.(1981). in Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. 96, 96 S.Ct. 321 (1975), held that:

The critical safeguard identified in the passage at issue is a person's "right to cut off questioning". Id. at 474, 86 S.Ct. at 1627. Through the exercise of his option to terminate questioning, he can control the time at which questioning occurs, subjects discussed, and the duration of the interrogation.

The requirement that law enforcement must respect a person's exercise of that option counteracts the coercive pressures of the custodial setting. We therefore conclude that the admissibility of statements obtained after the person in custody has decided to remain silent depends under Miranda on whether his "right to cut off questioning" was "scrupulously honored." P. 326.

The Appellant did everything possible to make it clear to the Detectives Rice and Patterson and Duckett on the evening of June 8, 1983, that the interrogation was over and he didn't want to be bothered again, from being rude to telling them that he knew nothing else to telling them that their case was an obscene collection to actually spitting on the officers. No other reasonable conclusion can be drawn from this testimony but that the interrogation and police contact was terminated by the Appellant. And yet, the police initiated contact and again advised the Appellant of his rights, which eventually resulted in the statements in question. It is clear that a valid waiver of his Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights cannot be shown simply by the fact, that the Appellant responded to further police-initiated custodial interrogation, even if he has been further advised of his Miranda rights. Edwards v. Arizona, U.S., 101S.Ct. 1880 (1981), p. 1884. Further, and dispositive of this matter, it is the simple fact that once the Appellant expressed his

clear desire to end the interrogation, the Appellant is not to be subjected to further interrogation by the authorities until counsel has been made available to him unless he initiates further communications or conversations with the police. Edwards, supra, p. 1884-1885). Not only is it clear that the Appellant did not initiate further contact or conversation with the officers, but, quite the contrary, it is clear that the Appellant was still being intimidated by the presence of Detective Patterson and by the rumors of organized crime-related dangers to the Appellant making it impossible for this Court to reasonably find that the State sustained its burden of showing that the resultant statements were voluntarily made. DeConigh v. State, So.2d. \_\_\_\_, F.L.W. vol. 8, p. 153 (Fla. 1983). Therefore, the trial Court erred in allowing any of the resultant custodial statements whether taped or oral, to come before the jury. this error affects the constitutional rights of the Appellant under the Fifth and Sixth Amendment, this Court may not find this error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if there is a reasonable possibility that the statements in question may have contributed to the Appellant's conviction. v. State, 397 So. 2d. 648 (Fla. 1981), p. 654. Therefore, a new trial is required.

The trial Court erred by allowing inflamatory photographs of the deceased and an actual videotape of the recovery of the body, despite the fact that there was a Stipulation by defense counsel as to the cause of death and the identity of the victim (Tr. vol. 2, p. 277-278, vol. 4, p. 701). Certainly the combination of still photographs and a videotape of the bloated, partially decomposed face of the victim result in the substantial danger of unfair prejudice which outweighs the arguable admissibility of such evidence. See Section 90.403, Florida Statutes. When this prejudicial effect is compounded by the Stipulation as to the cause of death and identity of the victim, the error is augmented, and reversal is required. See <a href="Dyken v. State">Dyken v. State</a>, 89 So.2d 866 (Fla. 1956), Young v. State, 234 So.2d 341 (Fla. 1970).

The trial Court also erred by allowing evidence to come before the jury regarding unrelated criminal activity by the Appellant. Evidence was brought before the jury that the Appellant had possession of and helped sell a stolen camera in Tennessee (Vol. 1, p. 165), and that the Appellant participated in a robbery to get gas money in Fort Lauderdale (Tr. vol. 2, p. 330). Neither of these circumstances had any probative value to prove a material fact at issue, motive, intent or preparation, etc. and quite the contrary, these two instances solely proved bad character and criminal propensity as is prohibited by Section 90.404 of Florida Statutes. See also

Williams v. State, 117 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1960).

This trial Court erred in preventing cross-examination of Marjorie Shannon, one of the State's runaway witnesses, regarding the reputation for truth and veracity of Rita It was established Callahan, another runaway witness. through her direct examination, that Shannon knew Callahan for a period of time, and spent a lot of time with her (Tr. vol. 4, p. 571), therefore, a proper predicate for such question regarding Callahan's reputation was present. was never asked questions regarding general moral character or specific acts of misconduct, both of which being improper areas of inquiry, but was asked only about the reputation for truth and veracity, which is proper cross-examiantion to show the believability of a critical State witness. See Pandula v. Fonseca 199 So. 358 (Fla. 1941), Chavers v. State, 380 So.2d. 1180 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). Therefore, not only was the trial Court's exclusion of such question error, but such error by the Court violated basic Sixth Amendment rights of the Appellant to confront witnesses and to have effective assistance of counsel at critical stages of his trial, that being crossexamination of crucial State witnesses.

The trial Court erred in failing to conduct an in camera hearing regarding the State's failure to supply a tape recorded statement given by runaway Lambert upon her arrest (Tr. vol. 4, p. 566-567). It has been consistently held, since Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971), that the trial Court must make the full inquiry into circumstances

surrounding a violation of the State's discovery obligation under Rule 3.220 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. Although the trial Attorney learned during cross-examination that Tammy Lambert gave a tape recorded statement in Arkansas upon her arrest, and that she reviewed that tape (Tr. vol. 3, p. 561-562), the Attorney's motion to prove such statement was summarily denied by the trial court (Tr. vol. 4, p. 567) without any inquiry into the circumstances of the State's failure to supply such statement. The trial court took no testimony nor heard argument from the prosecutor regarding the content of the statement in question or the circumstances surrounding the failure to prove such statement. As Tammy Lambert was a critical State witness in the case, it cannot be said that this error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967).

The trial court erred in allowing testimony from clerks at the Foxmoor store in Tennessee regarding the attempted use of a credit card owned by the victim without there being any testimony regarding the identity of persons using such credit card (Tr. vol. 1, p. 85, 94, 96, 101). Without the identification link, the evidence was simply irrelevant to the case against the Appellant, and did nothing more than put prejudicial matter before the jury without connecting it to the Appellant.

As a result of these cumulative errors on the part of the trial court, a new trial is required for Appellant.

#### POINT II

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION, AND, A NEW TRIAL IS REQUIRED IN THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE.

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