## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

) ))

JASON DEATON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FLORIDA	FILEI	
	DEC 26 1984	:
CASE NO.	CLERK, SUPREME COU 64897967 Chief Deputy Clerk 65,437	rt pee

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida 32304

ROBERT L. TEITLER Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

1044, 1046, 1057); but State rebuttal witness Lisa McNeal testified that on that last Friday, and last Thursday, none of the three Knoxville television stations ever showed a picture of Mr. Campanella (R 1197-8).

The tape recorded statement given by the Appellant, to police officers after his arrest, was never "coerced" due to alleged "threats" by Officer Patterson on the prior evening, and this contention is discussed and fully resolved within Point I of this brief. The Appellant's properly obtained taped statement clearly states that the murder of Mr. Campanella occurred in Ft. Lauderdale, while the Appellant placed a cord around Mr. Campanella's neck from a back seat (R 775-8). This statement, while laying the blame on Dean, completely contradicts the Appellant's alleged defense at trial - that he killed Mr. Campanella in Tennessee, in self-defense.

Also, at trial, the prosecution introduced two written letters of the Appellant (R 898-900, 1105-7), which the Appellant admitted writing (R 1107, 1154) out of guilt (R 1106-7). In one letter the Appellant knowingly and willfully confesses to the murder of Mr. Campanella (R 898, 1106), and in the other letter attempts to exculpate Dean in the murder of Mr. Campanella (R 899, 1105).

Therefore, there existed substantial, competent evidence by the State to support the verdict and judgement herein. Rita Callahan, Tammy Lambert, and Marjorie Shannon, all uniformly and consistently witnessed the Appellant plan the killing of Mr. Campanella, to obtain Campanella's car and money in order to leave

Ft. Lauderdale, and as well heard the Appellant thereafter graphically describe and laugh about how he actually did kill Mr. Campanella. The Appellant, in this case, is far from the "in the interest of justice" relief exception set forth in <u>Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1120 (F1a. 1981), as <u>no</u> fundamental injustice can be shown.

## POINT III

(Encompassing Point III of Appellant's Initial Brief, and Point IV of Appellant's Supplement to Initial Brief)

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY IMPOSING THE DEATH PENALTY.

The jury herein was instructed by the trial court as to five aggravating circumstances and five mitigating circumstances (R 1400-1406), and thereafter, a majority of the jury by a vote of 8 to 4 advised and recommended to the court that it impose the death penalty on Appellant (R 1408).

Subsequently, in its Sentencing Order, the trial court determined three aggravating circumstances to be applicable, 1) that the capital felony was committed while the Appellant was engaged in the commission of a Robbery, 2) that the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, and 3) that the capital felony was a homicide committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner (SR). The sole mitigating circumstance found to be applicable was that the Appellant had no significant history of prior criminal activity (SR).

The Appellant first alleges that it was erroneous for the prosecutor to have argued to the jury that a fourth aggravat-

ing circumstance applied, that the crime was committed for financial gain (R 1393). Appellee submits that this argument is totally without merit and can be seen as such by the Appellant's failure to cite any case in which this Court reversed a sentence of death where the prosecutor or jury had improperly doubled up aggravating circumstances, while the <u>trial court did not</u>. The trial court's subsequent Order held that while such circumstance did apply, the court acknowledged that it would be improper doubling up of the Robbery circumstance, and therefore should be considered along with the aggravating circumstance that the felony was committed during the course of a Robbery, pursuant to <u>White v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 331 (1981)(SR). The Appellant concedes that the aggravating circumstance pertaining to Robbery was proper (SB).

6

Regarding the appropriateness of the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious and cruel, the trial court's Order properly determined that:

> This aggravating circumstance does apply. The evidence is that an electric cord was put around the victim's neck while he was driving the car. Then he was transported to another section of Fort Lauderdale where he was strangled to death. Witnesses testified that the episode of killing Santi P. Campanella took 15 minutes and that the victim begged and pleaded for his life and that he said he would give them anything they wanted if they would let him live. Witnesses also testified that afterwards the Defendant, Jason Thomas Deaton, said that while the victim begged for his life, he tightened the cord until the victim started spitting up blood. The evidence shows that the

Defendant laughed and joked about how long it took the victim to die. The Defendant enjoyed unmercifully the pain and suffering the victim was forced to endure. Therefore, this crime was especially conscienceless, pitiless and unnecessarily torturous. (SR)

This conclusion is clearly supported by the record. And, contrary to Appellant's assertion, the death herein was not a "quick death".

The Appellant told Tammy, Rita, and Margie, that when he, Dean, and Mr. Campanella arrived at the Sears parking lot, the Appellant, sitting behind the driver Mr. Campanella, placed an electrical cord around Campanella's neck and shifted Campanella to the front passenger seat (R 298A-299, 454-5, 582). Dean then moved to the driver's seat as the Appellant held Campanella secure with the cord (R 455, 583). Dean then drove the car to a remote area, where the Appellant then commenced strangulation of Mr. Campanella (R 778, 780). Mr. Campanella was begging for his life, saying "Please don't kill me. I will give you anything", to which the Appellant replied "... shut up, motherfucker. It's going to be harder on you" (R 299-300, 455, 583). As the Appellant was jerking down on the cord (R 456) while strangling Mr. Campanella, the Appellant told the girls that Campanella was moaning and groaning (R 456). The Appellant told the girls "The sonof-a-bitch wouldn't die. It must have took him 15 minutes to croak because he just wouldn't die" (R 300, 456), and as Mr. Campanella was pleading for his life, the Appellant began beating on Campanella's heart, to make it stop beating, and throat, and blood

then gushed from Campanella's mouth onto the car ceiling (R 300. 456, 583-4). Dean, as well, hit Mr. Campanella a couple of times (R 456, 583). The three girls testified that as the Appellant was relating this story to them, he was happy, smiling, laughing, and joking about it, particularly the way in which Mr. Campanella was moaning and groaning (R 300, 456-7, 585). The struggle to kill Mr. Campanella lasted five to ten minutes (R 456), and as long as fifteen minutes (R 300), with Mr. Campanella dying by choking on his blood (R 584). The Appellant's own taped statement related that he alone put the black electrial cord around Mr. Campanella's neck and pulled his head backwards (R 777-8), and the medical examiner Dr. Kintner testified that the cause of Mr. Campanella's death was "... asphyxia due to the strangulation from the ligature around the neck" (R 249), and that any blows or trauma to the victim's head or chest area would not have caused death (R 248-9). Dr. Kintner testified that upon his autopsy examination, the cord was tied around Campanella's neck "...about as tight as you could get it" (R 249), and that without a struggle such person would lose consciousness in 15 to 60 seconds (R 249, 259-260), with death resulting in 5 to 30 minutes (R 249, 260). Witnesses testified, that the Appellant related to them, that a struggle did occur (R 300, 456, 583-4), lasting 5 to 15 minutes. Unconsciousness was certainly not nearly instantaneous.

This Court recently held, in <u>Doyle v. State</u>, 9 FLW 453 (Fla. October 26, 1984), that:

In particular, the finding that the murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel was based on the evidence that the vic-

tim died of strangulation which occurred over a period of up to five minutes and that prior to losing consciousness the victim was aware of the nature of the attack and had time to anticipate her death. Murder by strangulation has consistently been found to be heinous, atrosious and cruel because of the nature of the suffering imposed and the victim's awareness of impending death. Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla.), cert.denied, 459 U.S. 882 (1982); Alvord v. State, 322 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1975), cert.denied, 428 U.S. 923 (1976).

After the electrial cord was placed around Mr. Campanella's neck, he was aware of his impending death, as is evident by his plea "please don't kill me" (R 300, 455, 583), and struggle which ensued from 5 to 15 minutes (R 300, 456), as Campanella was moaning and groaning - much to the amusement of the Appellant (R 456-7) and spitting up blood (R 300, 584). Therefore, in this case, there was sufficient competent evidence in the record from which the trial judge could determine that such homicide committed through strangulation was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel. See Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1982). Such murder by strangulation evinces a cold, calculated design to kill. Alvord v. State, 322 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1975). And, regardless of the precise length of time in which it took for Mr. Campanella to die, the victim herein was subjected to agony over the prospect that death was soon to occur, and this terror and fear that Campanella felt from the time the cord was tightly wrapped around his neck at the Sears parking lot, until the time he succumbed while actively being strangled in a nearby neighborhood, supports the conclusion that the killing was heinous, atrocious, and cruel.

<u>See Jenkins v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 947 (Fla. 1984); <u>Routly v. State</u>, 440 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 1983). Further, as held by this Court in Smith v. State, 407 So.2d 894, 903 (Fla. 1981):

> ... we are of the opinion that the more heinous, atrocious, and cruel aspect of the killings was the manner in which he strangled his victims. Appellant described how both women struggled, shook spasmodically and looked into his eyes as he choked them. Both strangulations were prime examples of the "conscienceless or pitiless crime which is unnecessarily torturous to the victim" which we have established as heinous, atrocious, and cruel.

Regarding the finding that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner, the trial court properly determined that:

This aggravating circumstance does exist. The evidence is the day before the Defendant discussed how he would kill the victim by strangulation and even chose his weapon, the electric cord. This crime was a vicious scheme in its origin, operation and execution and was a cold calculated plan to kill. There was no moral or legal justification whatsoever for the killing. (SR).

It is clear from the record that the Appellant <u>planned to kill</u> the victim in order to obtain his car and money. The Appellant fully contemplated effecting Mr. Campanella's death. <u>See Hardwick v. State</u>, 9 FLW 484 (Fla. November 23, 1984). On the <u>day</u> <u>prior</u> to the killing, on May 27, 1983, the Appellant had Dean arrange to meet Mr. Campanella on the following evening of May 28 so they could "...kill him for his car and money" (R 292). Further, Tammy Lambert testified:

A He told Dean to go out with this guy

and make plans for the next night so that they could get the car and possibly kill him.

- Q Did Jason say he was going to kill the guy?
- A Yes.
- Q Did he indicate at that point how they would kill the guy?
- A Yes.
- Q Okay. And what did he say?
- A He picked up this cord from a lamp in the motel room and he wrapped it around his hands and said, this should do the trick.
- Q Do the trick for what?
- A To kill the man.
- Q Now, that was the night before?
- A Yes. (R 448).

On the next evening of May 28, 1983, the evening of the killing, the Appellant detailed his plan in which he was to kill Mr. Campanella. Rita Callahan testified:

- A They sort of planned it out. Jason said that he'd sit behind him in the car, behind this Campanella, I think, dude and Dean was going to sit on his right and they were going to say that Jason was getting a ride to Sears and he was - when they got in the parking lot, he would put the lamp cord around his neck and strangle him.
- Q Now, who was this talking?
- A Jason.
- Q He was going to strangle him until what?
- A Until he died.

- Q So this is the second time that Jason had talked about killing this man; is that correct?
- A Yes, yes.
- Q The first time was the night before?
- A Yes. (R 293).

This conversation was overheard by Tammy Lambert (R 449-450), who testified as well that it was the Appellant who told her they were going to kill Mr. Campanella even before they left (R 554-5). Marjorie Shannon heard also, a couple of hours before the killing, that the Appellant said they were going to meet a man and kill him (R 573), "they said they were just going to take his car and kill him" (R 619). The Appellant was then observed by the three girls with a black lamp cord in his hands, which he stuffed down his shirt before leaving (R 294, 449, 575), and the Appellant had commented that "this ought to do it" (R 295) or "this should do the trick" (R 448) - to kill the man (R 448). Thereafter, the Appellant and Dean left to meet with Mr. Campanella, and then kill him.

The trial court was thus presented with evidence of a murder which exhibited a heightened premeditation, proved beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See Gorham v. State</u>, 454 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1984). This murder was essentially an execution of Mr. Campanella, which was planned well in advance, in great detail, and was therefore properly determined to be cold, calculated, and premeditated. <u>Cannady v. State</u>, 427 So.2d 723 (Fla. 1983). This meticulous planning of the murder was cold-blooded and calculated, which went beyond mere premeditation, and was without any pre-

tense of moral or legal justification. <u>Middleton v. State</u>, 426 So.2d 548 (Fla. 1982).

Regarding mitigating circumstances, the trial court determined only one to be applicable, that being that the Appellant had no significant history of prior criminal activity (SR). Appellant contends that the trial court erred in failing to find Ap-

> This mitigating circumstance does not apply. The Defendant's date of birth is July 26, 1964 which makes him 18 years and 10 months at the time of the offense. Jason Thomas Deaton had been living on his own for several years. His background indicates he is not of tender age but was an adult at the time and capable of understanding his act. (SR).

It is within the province of the trial court to decide whether a particular mitigating circumstance in sentencing has been proven and the weight to be given it in determining whether to impose the death penalty. <u>Daugherty v. State</u>, 419 So.2d 1067 (Fla. 1982). Since there is no per se rule which pinpoints a particular age as an automatic factor in mitigation, the record in this case supports the trial judge's decision not to consider the Appellant's age as a mitigating circumstance. <u>Fitzpatrick v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1983). In <u>Fitzpatrick</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Appellant was twenty years of age. As held by this Court, today one is considered an adult, responsible for one's own conduct, at the age of 18 years. <u>Songer v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1975); <u>Washington v. State</u>, 362 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1978). In the case <u>sub</u>

judice, the Appellant was nearly nineteen years old, and an adult, at the time he killed Mr. Campanella. The Appellant was a street-wise man, and not of a tender age (R 1161-2), as evidenced by his written letter wherein he said "... I fucked up big this time, but that's the way of the streets...". The Appellant testified that he had been living and working on his own since he was 16 years old (R 1073-4), and participated in labor pools to earn an income (R 1135). Evidence was adduced as well that the Appellant earned an income in Ft. Lauderdale as a male prostitute (R 506, 558), which as well evinces a hardened, street-wise man, capable of understanding his act.

Assuming <u>arguendo</u> that the trial court should have found Appellant's age a mitigating circumstance, such error, if any, was harmless, in view of the <u>overwhelming</u> weight of the three aggravating circumstances presented by the Record. <u>Barclay</u> <u>v. Florida</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 103 So.Ct 3418, 77 L.Ed.2d 1134 (1983); <u>Zant v. Stephens</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 103 S.Ct\_, 77 L.Ed.2d 235 (1983); <u>Vaught v. State</u>, 410 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1982); <u>Hargrave v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1978), <u>cert.denied</u>, 444 U.S. 919, 100 S.Ct 239, 62 L.Ed.2d 176 (Fla. 1979); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 381 So.2d 690 (Fla. 1980). The aggravating circumstances in this case purely outweigh the mitigating circumstance.

The Appellant further alleges that the sentencing disparity between the Appellant (sentenced to death), and Dean (sentenced to life in prison), is unconstitutional. Appellee maintains that the sentences were proper pursuant to the evidence. The testimony of Tammy, Rita, and Margie clearly reveal that the

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